## Analysis and Design of a High Speed Delta-Sigma Modulator for mm-Wave Imaging Applications



Juan Yaquian Ali Niknejad

## Electrical Engineering and Computer Sciences University of California at Berkeley

Technical Report No. UCB/EECS-2012-76 http://www.eecs.berkeley.edu/Pubs/TechRpts/2012/EECS-2012-76.html

May 10, 2012

Copyright © 2012, by the author(s). All rights reserved.

Permission to make digital or hard copies of all or part of this work for personal or classroom use is granted without fee provided that copies are not made or distributed for profit or commercial advantage and that copies bear this notice and the full citation on the first page. To copy otherwise, to republish, to post on servers or to redistribute to lists, requires prior specific permission.

## Analysis and Design of a High Speed Delta-Sigma Modulator for mm-Wave Imaging Applications

Juan Yaquian

### Acknowledgements

It is my belief that in any milestone achieved in life's journey, whether small or large, it is good to reflect on all that has aided the ascension to the milestone. As I continue in my pursuance of the Ph.D. degree, I would like to take this time to acknowledge those that have helped me reach this milestone that is the Master's Degree. Without the guidance, support, encouragement, advice, and education received from these individuals I could have never reached this first milestone of my graduate tenure.

First of all, I would like to thank my research advisor, professor Ali Niknejad, for the enormous guidance and encouragement I have received from him on both a professional and personal level. When I first arrived at UC, Berkeley for the SUPERB Program in the summer of 2007 as an undergraduate sophomore, I had no idea whether I wanted to pursue a career in industry or go on to pursue graduate studies after graduation. That summer, under his guidance, I was introduced to the incredibly exciting field of integrated circuits. The amazing experience of that summer reinvigorated my passion for electrical engineering, and forever changed the trajectory of my life. His passion for the field, creativity, and big ideas are inspiring, and instill in me excitement for the upcoming years.

I would also like to thank professor Elad Alon who has played an instrumental role in my ascension through graduate school. Most people recognize research contributions as most important during graduate school, but development of the fundamentals to be able to produce good research is essential. I have taken more courses offered by Elad than any other professor thus far, and therefore some credit for any success I have in research or graduate school overall should be given to Elad for his contribution to my development of the fundamentals of integrated circuits. His teaching style is very engaging, and simplifies some of the most difficult concepts into a form more comprehensible by the student. Just as he has played a significant role during my Master's studies, I'm sure he will play a significant role on my path to the Ph.D. degree as well.

My experience thus far at the Berkeley Wireless Research Center (BWRC) has been inspiring, and I am excited to have the opportunity to work with such a talented and brilliant group of graduate students and faculty members. All the members of the BWRC group have made my work possible, and I am very thankful for each of them. I look forward to the upcoming years in my pursuance of the Ph.D. degree in which I will be able to work more closely with many members of the brilliant BWRC group. Of the many students I have to thank for their contributions to my graduate work, I would specifically like to thank Amin Arbabian and Yasin Aalipour. Not only did Amin do a great job of leading our TUSI design team, he was also my instructor for a course.Through both, I was able to truly experience his brilliance as a young electrical engineer. Both, Amin and Yasin, started the idea and work concerning the delta-sigma modulator presented in my report. Yasin contributed to the circuit design of the integrator and comparator of the DSM. The architecture choice of the integrator presented in this report is based on some of his initial designs. Furthermore, the comparator presented in this report is completely his work. Without his contributions, this work would not have been possible.

Outside of academia, no one person deserves more praise than my mother, Rosemary. Her perseverance through all of life's very difficult struggles has inspired me work hard in every aspect of life, and be grateful for all the positives and negatives. I can never thank her enough for the love and support she has provided me throughout my life. She is the kindest person I know, and I can only hope that I can be as great a parent as she has been to me.

Last, but not least, I would like to acknowledge my son, Jeremiah Aden Yaquian, and my wife, Claudia. Despite only being 5 months old at the time of this thesis Jeremiah has been very inspirational to my life. His random smiles remind me to enjoy life through the most stressful times I experience as a graduate student. His anxiety to learn inspires me to learn, and his sole being is my motivation. I thank Claudia for all the love, support, and encouragement she provides. As I continue on to receive my Ph.D. and even afterwards I know I will experience stressful times, but I know I can always count on her for support, and for that I am truly grateful to have her in my life. For all the joy they bring to my life, I dedicate this thesis to Claudia and Jeremiah.

## Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Problem Statement	2
	1.2	Scope of Work	4
	1.3	Organization	5
<b>2</b>	Ove	ersampling Delta-Sigma Converter Principles	6
	2.1	Oversampling Advantages	6
		2.1.1 AA Filter Specification Relaxation	6
		2.1.2 Quantization Noise Spreading	7
	2.2	Architecture Variations and Applications	9
3	Sys	tem Behavioral Modeling	11
	3.1	Topology Selection	11
	3.2	Ideal First-order Delta-Sigma Modulator Model	12
		3.2.1 Signal Transfer Function	13
		3.2.2 Quantization Noise Transfer Function and Noise Shaping	15
	3.3	Modeling of the Non-idealities	17
		3.3.1 Integrator Non-idealities	18
		3.3.2 Switch Non-idealities	25
		3.3.3 Noise	27

		3.3.4 Other Non-idealities	30
	3.4	Model Simulation Results	30
4	Cire	cuit Implementation	33
	4.1	Sampling Network	33
	4.2	Non-overlapping Clock Generator	37
	4.3	Operational Transconductance Amplifier	38
		4.3.1 OTA Core	39
		4.3.2 Common-Mode Feedback Network	43
	4.4	Comparator	46
		4.4.1 Preamplifier	46
		4.4.2 Regenerative Latch	47
	4.5	Results	49
<b>5</b>	Cor	nclusion	51
	5.1	Summary	51
	5.2	Future Work	52
$\mathbf{R}$	efere	nces	53
A	ppen	dix A Example Simulations of a Test Signal	56

## List of Figures

1.1	Illustration of the TUSI conversion problem	2
2.1	Sampling of the input signal (a) by a Nyquist sampler (b) and an oversampling	7
0.0	sampler (c) along with the accompanying AA inters.	1
2.2	Quantization noise PSD within $f_{BW}$ ( $\approx f_N/2$ ) when a Nyquist converter and an	
	oversampling converter is utilized.	8
2.3	Standard block diagram architecture for an oversampling ADC	9
3.1	Block diagram for a first-order DSM	13
3.2	Linear z-domain block diagram for a first-order DSM	14
3.3	Linear $z$ -domain block diagram and transfer function for a (a) zero delay integrator	
	and a (b) delaying integrator.	14
3.4	Noise-shaping function of $ H_{QN}(j\omega) ^2$ .	16
3.5	Circuit implementation of the first-order DSM	17
3.6	Single-ended half-circuit of the DSM integrator with parasitics included	18
3.7	Switched-capacitor integrator during the (a) sampling phase and (b) integration phase.	19
3.8	General transconductor $\Delta I$ vs. $\Delta V$ relationship for a differential OTA transistor, as	
	well as the relevant circuitry of the OTA	22
3.9	Practical sampling of a signal onto a capacitor via a CMOS switch	26
3.10	Circuit schematic of the OTA	29
3.11	SNDR versus normalized input amplitude	32

3.12	SNDR versus input signal frequency.	32
4.1	Circuit implementation of the first-order DSM	34
4.2	Switch resistance across the input range	36
4.3	(a) Schematic of the non-overlapping clock generator and (b) the timing diagram for	
	the clocking scheme.	38
4.4	Circuit schematic of the OTA	40
4.5	Circuit schematic of the common-mode feedback network	43
4.6	$\label{eq:complete} \mbox{Complete circuit schematic of the OTA with common-mode feedback network included}.$	45
4.7	Circuit schematic of the comparator preamplfier. $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	46
4.8	Circuit schematic of the comparator regenerative latch. $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	47
4.9	Simplified schematic of the regenerative latch during the on phase. $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	48
4.10	Results from the circuit overlaid on model results.	49
A.1	Output PSD of the delta-sigma modulator.	57
A.2	Time-domain original signal and reconstructed signal after modulation by the DSM.	58

## List of Tables

1.1	General specifications for the DSM ADC	4
3.1	Design parameters obtained from model and circuit iterative design	31
4.1	Physical design parameters for the sampling network transmission gate switches and	
	capacitors	37
4.2	Physical design parameters for the core OTA circuit	42
4.3	Physical design parameters for the common-mode feedback network. $\ldots$ . $\ldots$ .	44
4.4	Physical design parameters for the preamplifer circuit	47
4.5	Physical design parameters for the regenerative latch circuit.	48
4.6	Results for the delta-sigma modulator circuit	50
4.7	Power consumption breakdown for the delta-sigma modulator circuit. $\ldots$	50
A.1	Simulation parameters for the appendix example	56

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

Although the physical world remains completely analog, the processing of the analog signals is performed almost entirely in the digital domain since digital circuits are more robust and extremely small, and can produce very complex yet accurate and fast systems [1]. For this reason, data conversion continues to be a hot research topic of interest.

Data converters can be classified into two main categories: Nyquist-rate and oversampling converters. Nyquist-rate converters exhibit one-to-one correspondence between the input and output, do not use memory elements, and can convert higher bandwidth (BW) signals at lower sampling frequencies [1]. Nyquist-rate converters are typically more suitable for high bandwidth applications since they sample near the Nyquist frequency. The drawback of Nyquist-rate converters is that analog component matching directly impacts linearity and accuracy, and practical conditions of today limit these converters to approximately 14-bit resolution.

In contrast, oversampling data converters can achieve up to 20-bit resolution with high conversion speeds, and sample at much higher rates than the Nyquist rate. Oversampling converters incorporate memory elements and therefore do not exhibit the one-to-one correspondence of Nyquist-rate converters, making them more difficult to interpret intuitively. Within oversampling converters, the delta-sigma modulator (DSM) is the most popular for high-performance or highresolution applications. A significant advantage of DSMs is their relaxation of the accuracy of analog components in the circuit [2]. Furthermore, the ability to shift undesirable noise out of the frequency band of interest (commonly referred to as noise-shaping) makes a DSM a powerful conversion tool capable of providing very high precision results. DSMs are typically intended for low BW, high precision applications such as sensor networks, process control, audio conversion, digital video, imaging systems, and wireless and wired communications [1].

### **1.1 Problem Statement**

Wideband pulse modulation at mm-wave frequencies could be used for radar, imaging or highspeed communication applications. Reception and detection of these pulses poses a challenge in terms of the data conversion circuits. In this research we look at the final conversion step of the timebased ultra-wideband synthetic imaging (TUSI) system currently in development at UC-Berkeley.

Fig. 1.1 provides an illustration of the problem. Currently the TUSI transceiver includes all the necessary front-end blocks to output a 20 GHz I/Q signal, which is essentially a 40 GHz data



Figure 1.1: Illustration of the TUSI conversion problem.

signal. A delay line with 54 time-interleaved high-speed samplers and data converters is proposed to convert the analog signal to a digital low-frequency signal. The reason 54 data converters are used is that each of them will be operating off the internally generated 750 MHz clock signal. To accurately convert the full 40 GHz signal, 54 of these time-interleaved converters are needed, each evenly spaced across the delay line. The signal is sampled from the delay line via a high-speed sampling network, and the result is transmitted to the data converter to be converted. Note that the signal being sampled is a repetitive signal. This means that the high-speed samplers should ideally be sampling the same value, which makes the signal essentially DC. Therefore, the data converter is essentially converting DC signals since the high-speed samplers takes care of sampling the high-speed repetitive analog signal. For margin, the bandwidth specification is therefore set to 20 kHz, which is essentially a DC signal to a converter operating at 750 MHz. To convert the signal to a lower frequency that is more operable, an integrator is used to average 1000 data points down to 10 points. This results in a 400 Mbps data signal. At this point, the data conversion is complete, and the signal can be transmitted via a link to a digital signal processor to perform signal processing. This work focuses on the design of the data converter after the high-speed sampler but before the integration is performed.

In order to generate images with good contrast, imaging systems require high resolution, with better contrast requiring more resolution. From analysis of the overall TUSI system, it has been determined that 10 bit resolution is required to reproduce an accurate image from the signal. Since the data converter is to be part of the integrated transceiver, it must be as small as possible and reuse as many of the presently available on-chip control signals as possible. Furthermore, to ensure the incoming signal is synchronized with the modulator, the specified sampling clock (750 MHz) used for the data converter is a divided-down version of the internally generated clock used for the receiver. Since the signal being converted by the converter operating at 750 MHz is essentially a DC signal, the signal is drastically oversampled. To take advantage of the oversampling, an oversampling converter becomes the most promising solution for the data converter since the dynamic range is automatically improved without any additional circuitry required because of the oversampling. More dynamic range can be bought at very little expense if a noise-shaping modulator is used

Specifications	
Input BW (physical circuit)	20 kHz
Input BW (modeled DSM)	100 kHz
Sampling Speed	750 MHz
Resolution	10 bits

Table 1.1: General specifications for the DSM ADC.

for the oversampling converter. The high oversampling rate combined with noise shaping may be significant enough that a simple, small, low-power, and more robust converter can be employed to perform the conversion [1]. To take advantage of all the aforementioned properties, a DSM Analog-to-Digital converter (ADC) is chosen to perform the conversion. The general specifications for the DSM are provided in table 1.1. Note that for the model, a bandwidth of 100 kHz is used as the specification to provide margin by overdesigning. The input bandwidth specification for the physical circuit is still 20 kHz. This factor of 5 of overdesign is chosen since this is consistent with the variation that a physical circuit may experience. Variation in processing and operating conditions can at times cause performance to vary by up to a factor of 4. To conclude, this work develops a high-speed, high-resolution DSM that meets all the specified constraints and is optimized for the TUSI transceiver.

### 1.2 Scope of Work

This work covers the design of a first-order high-speed, high-resolution DSM for mm-wave imaging applications. It details the analytical analysis and modeling employed to obtain the internal parameters of the DSM, based on the constraints inputted into the DSM model, necessary to realize the DSM physically. It also describes the circuit design procedure exercised to realize each of the DSM's building blocks and the overall DSM. To demonstrate the capabilities of the proposed design, the DSM was created using a commercial BiCMOS 130 nm process.

### 1.3 Organization

The organization of the remainder of this report is as follows. Chapter 2 discusses some of the fundamental principles that make DSMs popular, and provides a discussion on the variety of architectures that can be utilized to design a DSM for different applications. Chapter 3 discusses the modeling of the DSM system to perform behavioral simulations. The most important nonidealites that need to be considered when modeling a DSM are also provided in chapter 3, as are the behavioral simulation results of the model that identify its performance. Chapter 4 provides the circuit design details that are necessary to physically implement the DSM. It goes through each of the significant blocks of the DSM and discusses the considerations that go into physically implementing the DSM. It also provides the final sizes of the transistors in each of the key blocks. Chapter 4 concludes by providing the results of the circuit and comparing them with the results provided from the behavioral simulations. The conclusion and references follow chapter 4. An example of the DSM's operation is provided in the Appendix to conclude the thesis.

## Chapter 2

# Oversampling Delta-Sigma Converter Principles

### 2.1 Oversampling Advantages

Oversampling converters in general allow ADC designers to take advantage of the availability of low cost, low power digital filtering while trading off speed for resolution. However, two of the primary advantages of oversampling converters are the relaxation of the specifications of the analog building blocks, such as the anti-aliasing (AA) filter needed prior to sampling, and the ability to spread the quantization noise.

#### 2.1.1 AA Filter Specification Relaxation

Consider the input signal shown in Fig. 2.1 (a). When a Nyquist converter sampling near the Nyquist rate samples the input signal, the resulting spectrum appears as in Fig. 2.1 (b). To ensure aliasing does not occur, the Nyquist sampler must follow an AA filter as depicted in Fig. 2.1 (b). For modern applications that require very high resolution and dynamic range, typical requirements for the AA filter would be a very narrow transition-band, high attenuation in the stop band, and



Figure 2.1: Sampling of the input signal (a) by a Nyquist sampler (b) and an oversampling sampler (c) along with the accompanying AA filters.

as little noise contribution as possible. Such specifications are very difficult to achieve even for state-of-the-art filter designs. Now consider the case when the input signal is oversampled. The resulting spectrum appears as in Fig. 2.1 (c) along with the necessary AA filter. As can be seen, the specifications for an AA filter followed by an oversampling sampler can be significantly relaxed due to a wider transition-band. In addition, more noise can be tolerated from the circuit devices and components than in the Nyquist sampled case because the quantization noise, which consumes some of the allotted noise budget, has been spread across the sampling bandwidth, and thus yields less quantization noise within the frequency band of interest as discussed next.

#### 2.1.2 Quantization Noise Spreading

The illustration in Fig. 2.2 shows how oversampling, with no additional modifications to the ADC, can improve the in-band quantization noise. First note that the entire input signal is con-



Figure 2.2: Quantization noise PSD within  $f_{BW}$  ( $\approx f_N/2$ ) when a Nyquist converter and an oversampling converter is utilized.

tained within  $f_N/2$  as required by the Nyquist theorem. The quantization noise is shown for both of the sampling cases. When the signal is sampled by a Nyquist sampler all the quantization noise power is contained within  $f_N/2$  just like the input signal power. However, when the signal is oversampled the quantization noise is distributed across a larger frequency range, namely  $f_S/2$ , although the total quantization noise remains unchanged. By following the oversampling ADC with a low-pass filter (LPF) with a corner frequency of  $f_N/2$ , the out-of-band noise can be filtered out leaving less quantization noise in-band than in the Nyquist sampling case. This result directly improves the signal-to-quantization-noise ration (SQNR) of the ADC.

To show the result analytically, first note that if we assume the quantizer with a quantization step of  $\Delta$  has its quantization noise error uniformly distributed from  $-\Delta/2$  and  $+\Delta/2$ , then the quantization noise variance (power)  $\overline{e_q^2}$  is given by

$$\overline{e_q^2} = \frac{\Delta^2}{12} \tag{2.1}$$

as shown in [3]. When the ADC is sampled by a Nyquist sampler, the quantization noise power gets distributed across the sampling bandwidth and the power spectral density (PSD) becomes

$$\overline{N_{q,f_N}^2(f)} = \frac{\overline{e_q^2}}{f_N} = \frac{\frac{\Delta^2}{12}}{f_N}.$$
(2.2)

If the signal is oversampled, then the quantization noise power gets distributed across a wider spectrum,  $f_S$ , and assuming the LPF is ideal, the total in-band noise is found by integrating the quantization PSD between  $-f_N/2$  and  $f_N/2$ , yielding the total in-band quantization noise power  $\overline{N_{q,in-band}^2}$  evaluated as

$$\overline{N_{q,in-band}^2} = \int_{-f_N/2}^{+f_N/2} \overline{N_{q,f_S}^2(f)} df = \int_{-f_N/2}^{+f_N/2} \frac{\frac{\Delta^2}{12}}{f_S} df = \frac{\Delta^2}{12} \frac{2f_{BW}}{f_S} = \frac{\Delta^2}{12} \frac{f_N}{f_S}$$
(2.3)

where  $f_S/f_N$  is the oversampling rate (OSR). From the result, it is clear that increasing the OSR reduces the baseband noise power, thereby directly increasing the SQNR without any modifications to the ADC modulation scheme. Therefore, any Nyquist ADC, such as the SAR ADC, can have its SQNR improved simply by oversampling the signal. However, oversampling alone is not sufficient to achieve very high resolution (~20 bits) with a Nyquist-rate ADC since there are practical limitations to sampling speeds. To achieve very high resolution, oversampling is combined with advanced ADC architectures, such as DSMs.

### 2.2 Architecture Variations and Applications

The standard block diagram architecture for an oversampling ADC utilizing delta-sigma modulation is shown in Fig. 2.3. The significance of the analog AA filter and the oversampling sampler have been discussed previously. The decimator consists of a digital filter with a narrow transition band with a corner frequency of  $f_{BW}$  for removing the out-of-band quantization noise, and



Figure 2.3: Standard block diagram architecture for an oversampling ADC.

a decimation filter to reduce the data rate to a rate more useful with digital signal processors. Advancements in delta-sigma ADCs have focused primarily with the DSM architecture—the block that converts the analog signal, after sampling, to a digital signal consisting of a 1-bit pulse density stream. Depending on the application and the specifications, the optimal architecture and the order of the DSM can vary significantly. DSMs have been realized with system transfer functions up to the eigth order [4–10]. Furthermore, these advanced DSM architectures have been applied to a variety of applications, such as wideband, RF baseband, thermocouple measurement, resistance temperature detection, frequency synthesis, and digital audio applications [11–15]. Hence, the decision on a specific architecture for an application is not trivial and requires extensive analysis.

## Chapter 3

## System Behavioral Modeling

All DSM topologies are non-linear systems incorporating memory, which make them inherently difficult to analyze. Moreover, selection of the appropriate architecture selection, loop filter type, order and coefficients, and the number of bits in the quantizer for a DSM is a non-trivial and time-consuming task [16]. In order to accelerate the transition from theoretical design to circuit implementation, behavioral models have proven to be invaluable. The development of a model that also includes most first- and second-order non-ideality effects is essential to reduce the iteration process. The task of creating a reliable system behavioral model for the desired DSM is tackled next, but first a brief discussion on the selection of the DSM topology is presented.

### 3.1 Topology Selection

As discussed previously, the driving constraints for the desired converter are to provide high resolution at high speeds, to consume as small an area as possible to minimize its footprint on the overall transceiver, and to reuse as many of the available on-chip control signals including the 750 MHz clock.

Although the requirements for high resolution at high speeds generally necessitate a multibit or high-order topology, these topologies exhibit drawbacks in clear contrast to the other two requirements. First, multi-bit converters impose severe linearity constraints on the digital-to-analog converter (DAC) in the feedback loop, as shown in [17], making them more difficult to adapt to requirements in place from other blocks in the system. Second, stability issues arise for higher order converters, especially when sampled at speeds approaching the GHz range. Most importantly, both topologies require additional blocks, thereby increasing the size.

To start the design process, it is often useful to have a general idea of the type of resolution that can be achieved by a specific architecture without needing to take into account the input signal or sometimes even  $\Delta$ . Assuming the input signal is a full-scale sine wave with a peak amplitude of 1 and that  $\Delta = 2$ , the peak dynamic range (DR) of an ideal *n*th order DSM with an oversampling ratio OSR and B bits in the quantizer can be estimated by the known equation [18],

$$DR_{dB} = 10 \cdot \log\left[\frac{3}{2} \cdot \left(2^B - 1\right)^2 \cdot \frac{2n+1}{\pi^{2n}} \cdot OSR^{2n+1}\right].$$
(3.1)

Based on the specifications specified earlier in table 1.1, the input signal bandwidth for the converter is approximately 100 KHz, which yields an OSR of approximately 3,750. From equation 3.1, a first-order DSM with an OSR of 3,750 utilizing a 1-bit DAC in the feedback loop can ideally achieve a peak DR of approximately 103.8 dB, which is more than sufficient resolution for the imaging transceiver. Consequently, a first-order switched-capacitor DSM utilizing a 1-bit DAC in the feedback loop is the topology chosen to meet the specifications. Among other advantages, the first-order DSM is the most stable of the topologies, and the use of a 1-bit DAC in the feedback loop makes the converter inherently linear. Furthermore, it requires minimal building blocks and is the most robust topology, thus clearly meeting the specifications imposed. Next, the system behavioral model for the first-order DSM selected is discussed.

### 3.2 Ideal First-order Delta-Sigma Modulator Model

The block diagram model for a first-order DSM is presented in Fig. 3.1. The block diagram includes a loop filter H(z), 1-bit quantizer (comparator), 1-bit DAC, and a summation block. DSMs



Figure 3.1: Block diagram for a first-order DSM.

can be implemented in either discrete-time or continuous-time, but in both cases the general block diagram as presented in Fig. 3.1 is the same. As described in [18], basic properties/characteristics of a DSM are:

- Maximum analog input range is equal to the DAC reference levels
- The average value of  $D_{out}$  must equal the average value of  $V_{in}$
- Inherently linear for a 1-bit DAC
- To a first order, linearity and quantization error are not dependent on component matching

#### 3.2.1 Signal Transfer Function

The DSM is a dynamic and nonlinear system due to the memory in the integrator and the quantization effect of the comparator, respectively, and hence mathematical analysis is a difficult task [1]. However, by utilizing linear models for the blocks, tractable qualitative analysis of the DSM can be performed. Representing the quantizer as an additive noise source linearizes the system model.

The resulting linear z-domain system model with the quantizer represented as an additive noise source is shown in Fig. 3.2. The model is presented in the z-domain since the DSM is physically implemented as a switched-capacitor circuit, which is inherently a discrete-time circuit. The standard loop filter chosen for a DSM is an integrator-chosen to accumulate the error signal, which can then be minimized by the loop. An integrator in the z-domain can be represented in two ways-as a zero delay integrator or a delaying integrator. Fig. 3.3 shows the two types of z-domain integrators, along with their accompanying transfer function formula. For the behavioral MATLAB model discussed here the zero delay integrator is more intuitive and therefore it is employed, but for the physical circuit implementation of the DSM the delayed integrator model is utilized since it is more easily physically implemented. In any case, the results for the behavioral model and the physical circuit are the same. Note that to complete the model, based on the physical switched-capacitor DSM architecture employed, which is discussed in the next section, the value fed back by the DAC



Figure 3.2: Linear z-domain block diagram for a first-order DSM.



Figure 3.3: Linear z-domain block diagram and transfer function for a (a) zero delay integrator and a (b) delaying integrator.

does not get evaluated until the next sampling phase of the system, and therefore a delay block is included in the feedback loop of the linear z-domain model to correctly model the sampling of the delayed feedback. If the delayed integrator is used in the behavioral model block diagram, the delay block in Fig. 3.2 must be removed for the two block diagrams to be equivalent. With the z-domain system block diagram explained, the mathematical analysis of the DSM model can now be undertaken.

From analysis of Fig. 3.2, the signal transfer function for the overall DSM becomes

$$H_{DSM}(z) = \frac{H_{int}(z)}{1 + H_{int}(z) \cdot z^{-1}} = \frac{1}{(1 - z^{-1}) \cdot \left(1 + \frac{z^{-1}}{1 - z^{-1}}\right)} = 1.$$
 (3.2)

Hence, without considering the non-idealities the input is unaffected and is fed directly to the output. Note that if the delaying integrator were used, the delay block in the feedback loop would need to be removed and the resulting signal transfer function would simply be  $z^{-1}$ , which is simply a delay as expected because of the use of the delaying integrator.

#### 3.2.2 Quantization Noise Transfer Function and Noise Shaping

The key property contributing to the effective and extensive use of the delta-sigma converter is the noise-shaping capabilities of the DSM. It was shown in section 2.1.2 that oversampling alone can reduce the in-band quantization noise, but when oversampling is performed along with the use of a noise-shaping modulator, such as a DSM, the in-band quantization noise can be reduced even further. Referencing Fig. 3.2, the quantization noise transfer function can be evaluated as

$$H_{QN}(z) = \frac{1}{1 + H_{int}(z) \cdot z^{-1}} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{z^{-1}}{1 - z^{-1}}} = \frac{1 - z^{-1}}{1 - z^{-1} + z^{-1}} = 1 - z^{-1},$$
(3.3)

which is essentially a differentiator. By setting  $z = e^{j\omega T}$  as shown in [18], the squared magnitude of the noise transfer function in the frequency domain, which is necessary to calculate the total



Figure 3.4: Noise-shaping function of  $\left|H_{QN}(j\omega)\right|^2$ .

in-band quantization noise power, can be evaluated as

$$|H_{QN}(j\omega)|^{2} = \left|1 - e^{-j\omega T}\right|^{2} = \left|2\sin\left(\frac{\omega T}{2}\right)\right|^{2} = 4\left|\sin\left(\frac{\pi f}{f_{S}}\right)\right|^{2}.$$
(3.4)

Fig. 3.4 illustrates the frequency response of equation 3.4, and it is clear that  $|H_{QN}(j\omega)|^2$  exhibits a high-pass response that pushes the quantization noise out-of-band by suppressing the noise at low frequencies (in-band) and amplifying it at frequencies near  $f_S$  (out-of-band).

The PSD of the quantization noise of an oversampling converter is

$$\overline{N_{q,f_S}^2(f)} = \frac{\Delta^2}{12} \frac{1}{f_S}$$

$$(3.5)$$

as was described in section 2.1.2 under the assumption that the quantization noise is uniformly distributed between  $-\Delta/2$  and  $+\Delta/2$ . To calculate the total in-band quantization noise,  $|H_{QN}(j\omega)|^2$ is applied to  $\overline{N_{q,f_S}^2(f)}$  with the simplification that for  $f \ll f_S$ ,  $\sin\left(\frac{\pi f}{f_S}\right) \approx \pi f/f_S$ . This yields

$$\overline{N_{q,in-band}^2} = \int_{-f_N/2}^{+f_N/2} \left| H_{QN}(j\omega) \right|^2 \cdot \overline{N_{q,f_S}^2(f)} df \approx \int_{-f_N/2}^{+f_N/2} 4 \left| \frac{\pi f}{f_S} \right|^2 \frac{\Delta^2}{12} \frac{1}{f_S} df = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \frac{1}{OSR^3} \frac{\Delta^2}{12}.$$
(3.6)

Assuming the input signal is a full-scale sine wave with peak amplitude  $A_{mag}$ , the SQNR is given approximately by

$$SQNR_{dB} = \frac{\overline{S_{input}^2}}{\overline{N_{a,in-band}^2}} = \frac{\frac{1}{2}A_{mag}^2}{\frac{\pi^2}{3}\frac{1}{OSR^3}\frac{\Delta^2}{12}} = \frac{18(OSR)^3 A_{mag}^2}{\pi^2\Delta^2}.$$
(3.7)

Equation 3.7 can be used as an estimate for the maximum achievable dynamic range of the design. The result shows the SQNR can be improved by either increasing the input signal magnitude, reducing the quantization step size, or most importantly increasing the OSR.

### 3.3 Modeling of the Non-idealities



Figure 3.5: Circuit implementation of the first-order DSM.

Fig. 3.5 shows the circuit used to physically implement the DSM. More thorough details of the circuit will be provided in chapter 4, but the non-idealities associated with the circuit will be studied here to guide the circuit design of chapter 4. Once the non-idealities associated with the circuit of Fig. 3.5 are included, the model is complete, and through behavioral simulations of the complete model, the impact of various parameters on the entire system can be analyzed and the appropriate specifications/parameters for the DSM can be established.

#### 3.3.1 Integrator Non-idealities

Fig. 3.6 presents the single-ended half-circuit of the DSM integrator as well as the parasitic capacitances  $C_P$  and  $C_L$  associated with the total parasitic capacitance at the input and output terminals of the operational transconductance amplifier (OTA), respectively. The overall z-domain transfer function for the non-ideal integrator is

$$H_{int}\left(z\right) = \frac{C_S}{C_I} \cdot \frac{\alpha}{1 - \beta z^{-1}},\tag{3.8}$$

where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are the integrator's gain and leakage, respectively [19, 20]. Among the many nonidealities that directly impact the gain or leakage, static errors and the dynamic errors due to the integrator finite bandwidth and slewing are the primary factors that cause performance degradation in switched-capacitor DSMs. Following an approach similar to [20–22], each factor is analyzed individually in the next three sections, and then consolidated to model the integrator behavior.

#### 3.3.1.1 Static Error

Since the DSM is implemented as a discrete-time switched-capacitor circuit, two phases exist to perform the integration–a sampling phase and an integration phase, and each phase must be



Figure 3.6: Single-ended half-circuit of the DSM integrator with parasitics included.

analyzed separately since the error differs in each phase. Fig. 3.7 provides models for the integrator during both the sampling and integration phase. The feedback factors in each phase are

$$F_S = \frac{C_I}{C_I + C_P} \tag{3.9}$$

$$F_{I} = \frac{C_{I}}{C_{I} + C_{P} + C_{S}},\tag{3.10}$$

where  $F_S$  and  $F_I$  are the dc feedback factors in the sampling and integration phase, respectively, and  $A_{vo}$  is the open-loop gain of the OTA. Allowing  $\Psi_S$  and  $\Psi_I$  to represent the closed-loop static errors in the sampling and integration phases, respectively, the closed-loop static errors can be evaluated as

$$\Psi_S = \frac{F_S A_{vo}}{1 + F_S A_{vo}} \tag{3.11}$$

$$\Psi_I = \frac{F_I A_{vo}}{1 + F_I A_{vo}}.$$
(3.12)

For high resolution applications, control of the parasitics is essential to keeping the static error to a minimum since large parasitics reduce the feedback factor which then requires a larger open-loop gain (and more power) to contain the static error within a specified amount.



Figure 3.7: Switched-capacitor integrator during the (a) sampling phase and (b) integration phase.

#### 3.3.1.2 Dynamic Error–Finite Bandwidth

The finite bandwidth caused by the finite closed-loop pole of the OTA is another non-ideality that further limits the settling speed of the DSM. To commence the analysis, the amplifier gain  $A_{vo}$  is needed, and is given by

$$A_{vo} = g_m R_{out} \tag{3.13}$$

where  $g_m$  and  $R_{out}$  are the transconductance and the total output impedance of the OTA, respectively. The effective closed-loop load capacitance  $C_{L,eff,CL}$  that specifies the closed-loop pole  $\omega_{P,CL}$  is a function of the open-loop load capacitance  $C_{L,eff,OL}$  and the dc feedback factor  $F_I$ . Referring to Fig. 3.7 (b), the effective open-loop capacitance, closed-loop capacitance, and unity-gain bandwidth  $\omega_{ugb}$  are defined as

$$C_{L,eff,OL} = C_L + C_I || (C_S + C_P) = C_L + \frac{C_I (C_S + C_P)}{C_I + C_S + C_P}$$
(3.14)

$$C_{L,eff,CL} = \frac{C_{L,eff,OL}}{F_I} = C_S + C_P + \frac{C_L \left(C_I + C_S + C_P\right)}{C_I}$$
(3.15)

$$\omega_{ugb} = \frac{g_m}{C_{L,eff,OL}}.$$
(3.16)

Including the effect of the feedback to evaluate the closed-loop pole yields

$$\omega_{P,CL} = \frac{\omega_{ugb}}{A_{vo,CL}} = \frac{g_m}{C_{L,eff,CL}} = \frac{g_m F_I}{C_{L,eff,OL}}$$
(3.17)

where the closed-loop gain  $A_{vo,CL}$  is approximately  $1/F_I$ .

With the finite closed-loop pole established, the finite bandwidth dynamic settling error  $\xi_I$  is found by analyzing the time domain step response of the OTA during the integration phase, and is evaluated as

$$\xi_I = \exp\left(\frac{-t_{int}}{\tau_{ota}}\right) \tag{3.18}$$

where  $t_{int}$  represents the time available for settling during the integration phase and  $\tau_{ota}$  is the

time constant defined as

$$\tau_{ota} = \frac{1}{\omega_{P,CL}}.$$
(3.19)

Equation 3.18 shows that, other than increasing the time available for settling, increasing  $g_m$  or  $F_I$ , and reducing  $C_{L,eff,OL}$  can all reduce the performance degradation due to the finite closed-loop pole. Since increasing  $g_m$  also increases the power, control of parasitic capacitances once again proves to be essential since  $F_I$  and  $C_{L,eff,OL}$  can both be improved by limiting the parasitics in the design.

Comparison of  $\Psi_I$  and  $\xi_I$  shows that it is best to allocate more of the settling error budget to the static error since it is often easier to improve the static error by improving the dc gain than improving the dynamic error, of which the finite closed-loop pole is only one nonideality that contributes to the dynamic error.

#### 3.3.1.3 Dynamic Error–Slew Rate Analysis

Another significant nonideality associated with the integrator is slewing. The effect of both the finite bandwidth and the slew rate are related to each other and may be interpreted as a non-linear gain [23]. The slew rate is a direct result of the output current limitation imposed by the OTA circuit. To visualize the slewing effect, Fig. 3.8 provides the general transconductor  $\Delta I$  vs.  $\Delta V$ relationship for a differential OTA transistor, as well as the relevant circuitry of the OTA. As shown in Fig. 3.8 and discussed in detail in [24], the circuit begins to slew essentially when the amplitude of the input exceeds  $V^*$ , where  $V^*$ , the overdrive voltage for long channel devices, is defined as

$$V^* = \frac{2I_D}{g_m} = \frac{I_{SS}}{g_m}.$$
 (3.20)

Intuitively, this result should be expected since all the current is steered completely in one direction when  $V_{id,amp} > V^*$ , and thus no more current is available beyond this point to speed up the settling process. Although this result is more accurate for older technologies (long channel), for modeling purposes prior to design it is still a very useful and intuitive first-order model. Therefore, in order to ensure linearity,  $V_{id,amp} \leq V^*$ . If  $V_{id,amp} > V^*$ , then the circuit becomes nonlinear and produces



Figure 3.8: General transconductor  $\Delta I$  vs.  $\Delta V$  relationship for a differential OTA transistor, as well as the relevant circuitry of the OTA.

harmonic distortion reducing the total signal-to-noise and distortion ratio (SNDR) [22].

Based on the analysis of Fig. 3.8, nonlinear slewing of an amplifier can be modeled as approximately piecewise linear in which slewing with constant current is followed by linear settling exponentially. Hence, the total time needed to settle the output can be given as

$$t_{int} = t_{slew} + t_{s,lin},\tag{3.21}$$

where  $t_{int}$  is the total settling time allowed during the integration phase,  $t_{slew}$  is the settling time spent slewing, and  $t_{s,lin}$  is the linear exponentially settling time [25]. Since  $t_{int}$  is set by the sampling speed of the DSM and  $t_{s,lin}$  is the time left over to settle after slewing, the significant factor that must be determined is  $t_{slew}$ . To establish  $t_{slew}$ , the slew rate SR at the output is needed, and can be represented by the known equation

$$SR = \frac{I_{SS}}{C_{L,eff,OL}},\tag{3.22}$$

where  $C_{L,eff,CL}$  is the same as in 3.15. The feedforward factor  $FF_I$  during the integration phase is used to determine the differential voltage at the input of the differential OTA during the integration phase, and referring to Fig. 3.7 (b) it is evaluated as

$$FF_{I} = \frac{C_{S}}{C_{S} + C_{P} + \frac{C_{L}C_{I}}{C_{L} + C_{I}}}.$$
(3.23)

The voltage at the input of the OTA is then

$$V_{x,step} = V_{in,amp} \cdot FF_I. \tag{3.24}$$

The amount by which  $V_{x,step}$  exceeds  $V^*$  dictates how much time the OTA will spend slewing with constant current. This excess voltage  $\Delta V_x$  is given by

$$\Delta V_x = V_{x,step} - V^*. \tag{3.25}$$

Since the slew rate is given for the output, the excess voltage at the output is

$$\Delta V_o = \frac{\Delta V_x}{F_I},\tag{3.26}$$

and the time spent slewing at the constant current becomes

$$t_{slew} = \frac{\Delta V_o}{SR} = \frac{\Delta V_x \cdot C_{L,eff,OL}}{F_I \cdot I_{SS}}.$$
(3.27)

With an expression for the time spent slewing available, the major nonidealities that impact the behavior of the integrator can now be consolidated.

#### 3.3.1.4 Integration of the Static and Dynamic Errors

The static error and the dynamic error due to the finite BW can be incorporated into the integrator model by revisiting the transfer function presented in equation 3.8. The transfer function

is reproduced here to aid the reader.

$$H_{int}\left(z\right) = \frac{C_S}{C_I} \cdot \frac{\alpha}{1 - \beta z^{-1}},\tag{3.28}$$

As shown in [21], the new transfer function incorporating the aforementioned non-idealities is

$$H_{int}(z) = \frac{C_S}{C_I} \cdot \frac{\Psi_I (1 - \xi_I)}{1 - \frac{\Psi_I}{\Psi_S} \left(1 - \xi_I \left(1 - \frac{\Psi_S}{\Psi_I}\right)\right) z^{-1}}.$$
(3.29)

From a comparison of equation 3.28 and equation 3.29, the relationship between the gain and leakage to the non-idealities is

$$\alpha = \Psi_I \left( 1 - \xi_I \right), \tag{3.30}$$

$$\beta = \frac{\Psi_I}{\Psi_S} \left( 1 - \xi_I \left( 1 - \frac{\Psi_S}{\Psi_I} \right) \right). \tag{3.31}$$

To include the slewing effect into the model, the voltage magnitudes at the input terminals of the OTA must be evaluated during each integration cycle. Depending on the input voltages applied to the OTA, the integrator may or may not slew, and therefore the transfer function applied to the signals varies. The three cases to consider, and the appropriately applied transfer functions are:

1) The integrator does not slew  $(V_{id,amp}[n] \leq V^*)$ :

$$Y[n] = \alpha X[n] + \beta Y[n-1]$$
(3.32)

2) The integrator slews,  $V_{id,amp}[n] > V^*$ , and  $t_{int} \leq t_{slew}[n]$ :

$$Y[n] = SR \cdot t_{int} + \beta Y[n-1]$$
(3.33)

3) The integrator slews,  $V_{id,amp}[n] > V^*$ , and  $t_{int} > t_{slew}[n]$ :

$$\mathbf{Y}[\mathbf{n}] = SR \cdot t_{slew}[\mathbf{n}] + (\Psi_I \mathbf{X}[\mathbf{n}] - SR \cdot t_{slew}[\mathbf{n}]) \left(1 - \exp\left(\frac{-(t_{int} - t_{slew}[\mathbf{n}])}{\tau_{ota}}\right)\right) + \beta \mathbf{Y}[\mathbf{n} - 1] \quad (3.34)$$

Although other second-order non-idealities degrade the integrator performance, those presented here represent the most significant factors that contribute to the performance degradation of the integrator.

#### 3.3.2 Switch Non-idealities

In the previous analysis, it was assumed that the switches were ideal with zero on-resistance and infinite off-resistance. However, since the switches are implemented with NMOS and PMOS transistors, there exists non-idealities that further degrade the performance of the DSM. The most critical non-idealities are:

- Switch-induced noise
- Finite switch resistance  $\rightarrow$  Finite acquisition bandwidth
- Distortion
- Charge injection/clock feedthrough

Through the use of transmission gates for the resistors along with the utilization of bottomplate sampling for the entire switching network, the error due to the charge injection and clock feedthrough can be made negligible [18].

To model the finite acquisition bandwidth effect, consider Fig. 3.6 and Fig. 3.7 (a) again. Note that both of the switches that are on during  $\Phi_1$  in Fig. 3.6 are lumped together when considering the switch resistance, as are both of the switches that are on during  $\Phi_2$ . The resulting finite switch resistance leads to additional settling error approximated by

$$\xi_{\rm sw} = \exp\left(\frac{-t_s}{\tau_{samp}}\right),\tag{3.35}$$

where  $\tau_{samp} = R_{sw}C$  is the time constant and  $t_s$  is the time allowed to sample the signal onto the capacitor. Referring to Fig. 3.9 for the simple case where the switch is an NMOS transistor, the



Figure 3.9: Practical sampling of a signal onto a capacitor via a CMOS switch.

on-resistance  $R_{sw,N}$  is

$$R_{\rm sw,N} = \frac{L}{W} \cdot \frac{1}{\mu C_{ox} \left( V_{DD} - V_{th} \right)} \cdot \frac{1}{1 - \frac{V_{in}}{V_{DD} - V_{th}}}.$$
(3.36)

The distortion in  $\xi_{sw}$  is a result of the input signal dependency of  $R_{sw,N}$  apparent in the last fractional term of  $R_{sw,N}$ . However, through the use of transmission gates switches, the overall onresistance of the switch is made more linear and less dependent on the input voltage, thus reducing the overall distortion due to the switch resistance. Since transmission gates are composed of the parallel combination of an NMOS and PMOS device, the overall on-resistance of a transmission gate switch can be expressed as

$$\frac{1}{R_{\rm sw,NP}} = \frac{1}{R_{\rm sw,N}} + \frac{1}{R_{\rm sw,P}}.$$
(3.37)

Although a transmission gate switch introduces parasitic capacitance at both terminals of the transmission gate, these parasitic capacitances are considered negligible when they are an order of magnitude smaller than the sampling capacitors, as is the case with the DSM designed in this report. Hence, equation 3.35 can be used to model the non-idealities of the switches used in the DSM, with  $R_{\rm sw,NP}$  used as the resistance and either  $C_S$  or  $C_I$  used as the capacitance.

#### 3.3.3 Noise

Sampling noise and the OTA's thermal noise are the fundamental limitations in the design of high-resolution DSMs [19]. Noise after the integrator is negligible because it is suppressed by the high DC gain of the integrator when input-referred, and it is also attenuated by the same noise shaping that attenuates the large quantization noise.

#### 3.3.3.1 Sampling Noise

The noise power sampled onto a sampling capacitor is readily shown to be

$$\overline{v_n^2} = \frac{k_B \mathrm{T}}{C_S} \tag{3.38}$$

where  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant, T is the absolute temperature, and  $C_S$  is the sampling capacitance. For the circuit in Fig. 3.6, the total sampled noise power is

$$\overline{v_n^2} = \frac{2k_B \mathrm{T}}{C_S},\tag{3.39}$$

where the factor of 2 accounts for the thermal noise of the input switches during both the sampling and integration phases. Another factor of 2 is necessary to account for the DSM being differential and not single-ended, and therefore the total sampled noise of the DSM is

$$\overline{v_{n,total}^2} = \frac{4k_B \mathrm{T}}{C_S}.$$
(3.40)

Although the result in equation 3.40 is used in the model to allow the filters in the decimator to remove the out-of-band noise, it is still important to calculate the total in-band noise expected prior to physical implementation since this aids the choice of capacitor sizes to use in the DSM. The total in-band noise is found by first spreading the noise across the sampling bandwidth to find the PSD of the sampled noise as was done for the quantization noise. The resulting sampled noise PSD is

$$\overline{v_{n,total}^2}/f = \frac{4k_B T}{C_S} \frac{1}{f_S/2} = \frac{8k_B T}{C_S} \frac{1}{f_S}.$$
 (3.41)

With the cutoff frequency of the decimator LPF set to  $f_{BW}$ , the total in-band noise becomes

$$\overline{v_{n,in-band}^2} = \frac{8k_B T}{C_S} \frac{1}{f_S} \cdot f_{BW} = \frac{4k_B T}{C_S} \frac{1}{OSR}.$$
(3.42)

Equation 3.42 clearly shows the significant advantage oversampling provides to reduce the noise power and dynamic range.

#### 3.3.3.2 OTA Thermal Noise

The thermal noise of the OTA is inherently dependent on the overall design of the OTA. Different architectures will contribute different amounts of noise. In an attempt to make the modeling of the OTA noise more tractable despite this dependency, the noise is calculated at the output of the OTA, after which it can be referred back to the input if the reader chooses, although the result is the same. The total noise contributed at the output by the OTA is equivalent to the total noise sampled onto the differential output capacitors. The total noise sampled onto a capacitor was provided in equation 3.38. To include the OTA's contribution to the noise, only the noise factor that takes into account the OTA's design is necessary. The schematic for the OTA designed in this report is provided in Fig. 3.10, the details of which will be discussed in section 4.3.1. The noise factor on one output branch for such an OTA can be readily shown [25, 26] to be

$$nf = 1 + \frac{V_{in}^*}{V_{load}^*},$$
(3.43)

where  $V_{in}^*$  and  $V_{load}^*$  correspond to the input device  $M_1$  and the PMOS current source load device  $M_6$ , respectively. As an example, the expression for  $V_{in}^*$  is

$$V_{in}^* = \frac{2I_d}{g_{m,in}},$$
(3.44)



Figure 3.10: Circuit schematic of the OTA.

and its inverse represents the gain/power efficiency of the device. Equation 3.43 makes use of the simplification that the noise contribution of the cascode devices is negligible. This assumption generally holds, and thorough analysis supporting the assumption can be found in [25, 26]. Nevertheless, the result is more than sufficient for modeling purposes, and applying the noise factor to the sampled noise at the output yields the final model for the OTA output noise, approximated as

$$\overline{v_{n,OTA}^2} = \frac{2k_B T}{C_{L,eff,CL}} \text{nf} = \frac{2k_B T}{C_{L,eff,CL}} \left(1 + \frac{V_{in}^*}{V_{load}^*}\right),$$
(3.45)

where  $C_{L,eff,CL}$  is the effective closed-loop capacitance given in equation 3.15. The noise models for the sampling noise, OTA thermal noise, and the quantization noise provided in equation 2.1 represent the significant noise sources that are essential for the proper modeling of a DSM's performance.

#### 3.3.4 Other Non-idealities

Other non-idealities that can be added to the model include integrator offset voltage and comparator hysteresis. Although they are typically of minor concern, there are scenarios in which they can become problematic, especially for higher-order DSM architectures. Since the comparator hysteresis is also suppressed by the high DC gain of the integrator it is more often less significant than the integrator offset. Both non-idealities can be included into the model by simply adding a voltage source in series with the input for the integrator offset, and in series with the output for the comparator hysteresis.

### 3.4 Model Simulation Results

With the model completed, optimization was performed to specify the OTA parameters needed to physically implement the DSM circuit. The specified parameters provided a starting point for the circuit design, after which an iterative process back and forth between the model and the circuit was performed to arrive at the final parameters of the DSM circuit. Since the design of the analog blocks is dependent on the sampling/integrating capacitor sizes, the capacitor sizes were calculated first by utilizing the model as detailed in section 4.1 that discusses the circuit design of the sampling network. With the capacitor and switch sizes for the sampling network calculated, the values were entered into the model, and the model was optimized to obtain the necessary OTA parameters necessary to meet the specifications. Table 1.1 provided a summary of the general specifications. The parameters found from optimization of the model and multiple iterations of the circuit design are provided in table 3.1. The next chapter provides more detail into the circuit design techniques that were employed in parallel with model optimization to arrive at the final parameters provided in table 3.1.

The performance of the DSM found by simulating the model with the final parameters specified in table 3.1 is provided in Fig 3.11 and Fig. 3.12. Fig 3.11 is the standard plot used to specify the performance/resolution of a delta-sigma ADC. The resolution of the DSM is typically specified as the SNDR when the input has its highest amplitude ( $V_{in,amp} = V_{ref}$ ). From Fig 3.11, when

<b>Design Parameters</b>		
$C_{S}$ and $C_{I}$	400 fF	
R <sub>sw</sub>	200 Ω	
OTA V <sup>*</sup> <sub>in</sub>	300 mV	
OTA V <sup>*</sup> <sub>load</sub>	500 mV	
OTA input g <sub>m</sub>	3 mS	
OTA A <sub>vo</sub>	6000	

Table 3.1: Design parameters obtained from model and circuit iterative design.

 $V_{in,amp} = V_{ref}$  the DSM ADC has a dynamic range of 80.1 dB, which corresponds to 13 bits of resolution. Fig 3.12 is used to show the bandwidth of the DSM. As long as the signal is within the specified bandwidth of 100 kHz, the DSM ADC can achieve high resolution. Aliasing occurs as soon as the input signal frequency exceeds the bandwidth, and the performance of the DSM ADC significantly falls as expected. An example that shows the operation of the DSM model presented here is provided in Appendix A.



Figure 3.11: SNDR versus normalized input amplitude.



Figure 3.12: SNDR versus input signal frequency.

## Chapter 4

## **Circuit Implementation**

In order to use the model to estimate the performance of the DSM, certain parameters were required, such as  $C_S$ ,  $C_I$ , device  $g_m$ ,  $R_{sw}$ , etc. The choice of these parameters and the design of the circuit is done with the analysis of the previous chapter in mind. To arrive at the final parameters, an iterative process was performed in which the analysis/modeling of the previous chapter guided the circuit design, the parameters extracted from the circuit were entered into the model, the resulting performance was analyzed, and the circuit and its parameters were iteratively modified until the desired performance was achieved. This chapter presents the analysis performed to design each circuit block along with the final parameters chosen, which were presented in table 3.1. The resulting performance simulations with the physical circuit parameters included are then provided. The circuit simulation performance results are also compared with the model's performance results.

### 4.1 Sampling Network

Fig. 3.5 showed the circuit implementation of the DSM with the sampling network included, and it is reproduced here for convenience in Fig. 4.1 with the delays and phases of each switch included. The necessity for delayed switches and different phases will be discussed in the next section. The sampling network consists of the switches and capacitors used for sampling the input



Figure 4.1: Circuit implementation of the first-order DSM.

and performing the integration. The switches are implemented as transmission gate switches to reduce clock feedthrough and to reduce the nonlinear dependency of the switch resistance on the input voltage. As shown in Fig. 4.1, the sampling network utilizes bottom-plate sampling; a decision made to reduce the charge injection and further reduce the clock feedthrough.

In equation 3.35, it was shown that the sampling network introduces additional settling error. To ensure the impact is negligible, it is typically desired to keep this error to less than one least significant bit (LSB). The LSB is dependent on the full-scale range  $V_{FS}$  of the DSM, which is twice the reference voltage  $V_{ref}$  used for the DSM. Note that the maximum value allowed for  $V_{ref}$  is specified from the design of the OTA, which will be discussed in section 4.3. The LSB value can be expressed as

$$V_{LSB} = \frac{V_{FS}}{2^B} = \frac{2 \cdot V_{ref}}{2^B},$$
(4.1)

where B is the bit resolution desired. To keep the settling error due to sampling within one LSB

the expression that must hold true is

$$V_{in,amp} \cdot \exp\left(\frac{-t_s}{\tau_{samp}}\right) < \frac{V_{LSB}}{2},$$
(4.2)

where the factor of 2 is due to the fact that the analysis being presented here is done on only half of the DSM circuit since any one switch and capacitor pair only samples half of the differential signal. The worst-case error occurs when the input is largest, which occurs when  $V_{in,amp} = V_{FS}/2 = V_{ref}$ . Rearranging expression 4.2 to isolate the necessary time constant and replacing  $V_{in,amp}$  with  $V_{ref}$ yields

$$\tau < t_s \frac{1}{\ln\left(2^B\right)}.\tag{4.3}$$

Since  $\tau = R_{sw}C_S$ , the bound on  $R_{sw}$  is

$$R_{sw} < \frac{t_s}{\ln\left(2^B\right)C_S},\tag{4.4}$$

where  $R_{sw}$  is the overall resistance of the transmission gate switches used for the circuit.

As expected, the necessary  $R_{sw}$  is dependent on the value of  $C_S$  chosen for the sampling network.  $C_S$  is typically chosen such that the sampled noise that results does not limit the DSM. Equation 3.42 showed the relationship between the total sampling in-band noise and  $C_S$ . To ensure 10 bit resolution, the minimum value for  $C_S$  can be approximately established by satisfying the expression

$$SNR = 10 \cdot \log\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}V_{ref}^2}{\overline{v_{n,in-band}^2}}\right) > 62 \,\mathrm{dB},\tag{4.5}$$

similar to [27]. In equation 4.5,

$$\overline{v_{n,in-band}^2} = \frac{4k_B T}{C_S} \frac{1}{OSR}$$
(4.6)

since the SNR in equation 4.5 is based on the differential DSM.

As an example with values used for the differential DSM, setting  $V_{ref} = 300$  mV, T= 297, B = 10, and the input bandwidth to 100 kHz, which leads to an OSR of approximately 3,750, the minimum sampling capacitance necessary to satisfy expression 4.5 is 0.154 fF. The result is due to the high oversampling rate that spreads out the noise across the sampling frequency spectrum, thus reducing the in-band noise and the capacitor size needed to keep the sampled noise level within a bound. The reduced sampling capacitance needed turns out to be a major advantage of the DSM over Nyquist sampling converters. However, setting  $C_S = 0.154$  fF would lead to undesirable results since the parasitic capacitances in the DSM circuit will surely be along the same order of magnitude as the sampling capacitance, thus altering the DSM dynamics. For this reason, a sampling capacitance of 400 fF was eventually chosen so that the capacitance would be large enough to make parasitic capacitances negligible yet small enough to allow the DSM to operate at high speeds.  $C_I$  was set to 400 fF as well, with the choice explained in section 4.3.1 that discusses the design of the OTA core. Revisiting expression 4.4 with  $C_S$  set to 400 fF, the bound under which the switch resistance must remain to meet design constraints is approximately 240  $\Omega$ . To provide margin, the transmission gate switches implemented for the DSM were designed to have a resistance under 200  $\Omega$  across the entire input range of  $\pm V_{ref}$ . Fig. 4.2 provides the simulation results for the



Figure 4.2: Switch resistance across the input range.

Sampling Network Design Parameters	
C <sub>S</sub> and C <sub>I</sub>	400 fF
TG Switch W <sub>n</sub> /L <sub>n</sub>	22µ/130n
TG Switch W <sub>p</sub> /L <sub>p</sub>	30.8µ/130n

Table 4.1: Physical design parameters for the sampling network transmission gate switches and capacitors.

switch resistance of the transmission gate switches implemented, as well as the switch resistance if only an NMOS or PMOS device were used to implement the switches. As shown and expected, the transmission gate linearizes the overall resistance across the input range by reducing the resistance dependency on the input, and is well within the required resistance range.

Note that in sizing the switches of the DSM circuit of Fig. 4.1 to meet the desired resistance constraint, linearity and charge-injection should be considered. To target linearity, the delayed switches,  $\Phi_{1d}$  and  $\Phi_{2d}$ , should be sized such that the resistance of the PMOS and NMOS devices are equal. Although the non-delayed switches,  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$ , can be sized to have equal PMOS and NMOS sizes to reduce charge-injection, this is not as critical since the fully-differential bottom-plate sampling configuration of the DSM further mitigates the effect of signal-dependent charge injection. Therefore, the delayed switches were used to implement the non-delayed switches as well. With  $R_{sw}$ ,  $C_S$ , and  $C_I$  established, the sampling network circuit is completed. The final parameters used for the switches and capacitors of the sampling network are provided in table 4.1.

### 4.2 Non-overlapping Clock Generator

The previous section specified that essentially four clock signals would be needed to implement the sampling network;  $\Phi_1$ ,  $\Phi_{1d}$ ,  $\Phi_2$ , and  $\Phi_{2d}$ . This clocking scheme consisting of the four signals is necessary to take advantage of the benefits of bottom-plate sampling. Fig. 4.3 (b) provides a timing diagram of the clocking scheme. Consider the sampling capacitor when both  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_{1d}$ are on. As  $\Phi_1$  is disconnected, the injected charge due to turning off the switch is constant, and is



Figure 4.3: (a) Schematic of the non-overlapping clock generator and (b) the timing diagram for the clocking scheme.

therefore eliminated since the DSM is differential [18]. When  $\Phi_{1d}$  is turned off, the bottom plate of  $C_S$  is already open, and thus no signal dependent charge is injected on  $C_S$ . The schematic of the non-overlapping clock generator used to generate the four clock signals for the clocking scheme is presented in Fig. 4.3 (a). Note that the four inverters marked with an 'X' in Fig. 4.3 (a) can be tweaked in size to adjust the delay and the non-overlap time.

### 4.3 Operational Transconductance Amplifier

The OTA is the key analog block of a DSM because its performance impacts the overall performance of the DSM more than any other block. Furthermore, the relaxation of the constraints of the other analog blocks is primarily a result of the integrator's high DC gain that essentially makes most of the error after the integrator negligible when referred back to the input. The key final parameters of the OTA were previously presented in table 3.1. In this section, the circuit design technique that utilized these parameters and was employed in parallel with the model optimization is discussed.

#### 4.3.1 OTA Core

In choosing the architecture for the OTA, meeting the required high DC gain specification while maintaining stability and a suitable settling response was the target. While a two-stage amplifier would certainly be able to achieve the high DC gain requirement, stability becomes an issue when operated at frequencies approaching the GHz range. Furthermore, a two-stage amplifier is more susceptible to overloading of internal nodes, which no longer allows the OTA to be modeled by one pole. To ease the modeling of the OTA and mitigate any effects of overloading internal nodes, a single-stage OTA architecture was chosen. Considering that the OTA will need to operate at 750 MHz, the selection of a single-stage OTA is reaffirmed since a single-stage OTA can be modeled by a single pole and is inherently more stable than a two-stage OTA. With the OTA loaded by 400 fF integrating capacitors, stability is less critical since the load capacitance automatically acts as a compensation capacitor to stabilize the OTA. Moreover, the supply voltage for the OTA is 3.3 V, which is more than sufficient to allow multiple devices to be stacked to exploit the intrinsic  $g_m r_o$ gain of the devices. This allows the OTA to meet the high DC gain specification without the need for a second amplifier. The schematic for the OTA is provided in Fig. 4.4.

To start the design, the transistors were characterized to identify the ideal operating point for the devices, which required trading off between high-speed operation, power/gain efficiency, and swing. Noise was also taken into account in specifying the operating points because as was shown in equation 3.43, a smaller input device  $V^*$  yields a smaller noise factor. From characterization and consideration of all the mentioned factors,  $V_{M1}^*$  (the input device  $V^*$ ) was chosen to be 300 mV. Since  $V_{M6}^*$  directly impacts the noise, its value was set to 500 mV, which was the largest it could go without drastically impacting the power/gain efficiency and lowering the output swing. Although  $V_{MCS}^*$  also directly affects the noise factor, it could not be set too high since it also directly limits the maximum input swing allowed on the OTA, and therefore was set to 200 mV. The integrating capacitor, which strongly impacts the overall OTA load capacitance, can be sized to further improve the dynamic range at the output of the OTA should the noise factor be too large. The most important factors in deciding the operating point for the cascode devices are swing



Figure 4.4: Circuit schematic of the OTA.

and efficiency, and therefore  $V_{M2}^{\ast}-V_{M5}^{\ast}$  were all set to 300 mV.

Using the V<sup>\*</sup> values specified, the maximum output swing of the OTA can be calculated as

$$V_{o,swing,max} = V_{DD} - V_{M1}^* - V_{M6}^* - V_{MCS}^* - 4 \cdot V_{M2}^* = 1.1 \,\mathrm{V}.$$
(4.7)

Note that the output swing calculation is not essential to the design of the OTA here since the maximum input swing is specified independent of the output swing. The maximum differential input swing at the OTA input is

$$V_{in,swing,max} = [V_{DD} - V_{M6}^* - 4 \cdot V_{M2}^* + V_{TN}] - [V_{MCS}^* + V_{TN} + V_{M1}^*] = 1.1 \,\mathrm{V}.$$
(4.8)

The slew rate is the parameter that actually determines the maximum input swing of the DSM, which is different than the input swing of the OTA because of the feed-forward factor. With  $V_{M1}^* =$  300 mV, the maximum amplitude at either input of the DSM is evaluated as

$$V_{in,amp,max} = \frac{V_{M1}^*}{FF_I}.$$
(4.9)

where  $FF_I$  is the same feed-forward factor presented in equation 3.23. Since both inputs experience the same max amplitude limitation, the maximum input differential swing of the DSM becomes

$$V_{in,diff,swing} = V_{FS,diff} = 2 \cdot V_{in,amp,max}.$$
(4.10)

At this point, the sampling capacitor can be specified based on the input swing, but its value was calculated and set to 400 fF in section 4.1 based on setting  $V_{ref}$  to 300 mV. To maintain loop stability by limiting the loop gain, the integrating capacitor  $C_I$  is typically set to be greater than or equal to  $C_S$ . Therefore,  $C_I$  was set to 400 fF since this was the smallest value it could have before the capacitive gain became greater than one. After arriving at an estimate for the parasitic load capacitance of the OTA based on the implemented circuit of the OTA, the capacitive gain is found to be 1, the feedback factor  $F_I$  is 0.49, and the feedforward factor  $FF_I$  is 0.75. From equation 4.9, the maximum  $V_{in,amp,max}$  is found to be 0.4. With all the necessary parameters available, the SNR can be evaluated at the output of the OTA to determine if the dynamic range is sufficient or if parameters need to be modified to achieve better dynamic range. The maximum SNDR at the output is evaluated as

$$SNR = 10 \cdot \log\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}V_{ref}^2}{\overline{v_{n,OTA}^2 \frac{1}{F_I}}}\right) = 10 \cdot \log\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}V_{ref}^2}{\frac{2k_B T}{C_{L,eff,CL}} \frac{nf}{F_I}}\right).$$
(4.11)

Letting  $V_{ref} = V_{in,amp,max}$ , the maximum SNR at the output is calculated to be 63.5 dB, which meets the specification and thus confirms the choices made for the design parameters. This value for the SNR at the output will more than likely improve due to additional parasitic capacitance at the output of the OTA that is not modeled.

To arrive at the values for  $A_{vo}$  and  $g_m$ , all the previous parameters were entered into the model and optimized. The model takes into account all the non-idealities and error factors, both

static and dynamic, presented in section 3.3. The final parameters that produced the results given in section 3.3 were  $A_{vo} = 6,000$  and  $g_m = 3$  mS. The necessary current and output impedance requirements can be deduced from all the previously specified parameters. The low frequency gain  $A_{vo}$  of the OTA is evaluated as

$$A_{vo} = g_{m1} \cdot (g_{m2}r_{o2} \cdot g_{m3}r_{o3} \cdot r_{o1} || g_{m4}r_{o4} \cdot g_{m5}r_{o5} \cdot r_{o6}).$$

$$(4.12)$$

With  $g_{m1}$  and  $V_{M1}^*$  set, the bias current for the OTA can be establish since

$$g_{m1} = \frac{2I_d}{V_{M1}^*} = \frac{I_{SS}}{V_{M1}^*}.$$
(4.13)

The transconductance of all other devices is specified as well since the same bias current flowing through the input devices flows through the other devices, and  $V^*$  for each of the devices was already set. The key degree of freedom in sizing the devices of the OTA is the channel length. As shown in equation 4.12, the DC gain is strongly dependent on the intrinsic  $r_o$  of the devices, which is strongly dependent on the channel length of the devices. Therefore, it is desirable to make the channel lengths for all the devices other than the input device as large as possible, so long as their capacitive loading on internal nodes does not affect the bandwidth of the OTA. The final sizes for the OTA core are provided in table 4.2.

As can be seen from the schematic of the OTA given in Fig. 4.4, the output common mode is

<b>OTA Core Design Parameters</b>	
M <sub>CS</sub>	73µ/400n
<b>M</b> <sub>1</sub>	5.7µ/130n
M <sub>2</sub>	58µ/1µ
M <sub>3</sub>	28µ/500n
M <sub>4</sub>	82µ/500n
M <sub>5</sub>	214µ/1µ
M <sub>6</sub>	37µ/500n

Table 4.2: Physical design parameters for the core OTA circuit.

dependent on device parameters, which means it is poorly defined. For this reason, a common-mode feedback network must be included to set the output common mode of the OTA. In Fig. 4.4, the common-mode is controlled via the bias voltage of the tail current source,  $V_{cm,control}$ , which comes from the common-mode feedback network discussed next.

#### 4.3.2 Common-Mode Feedback Network

Common-mode feedback is required in fully differential amplifiers to define the voltages at the high impedance output nodes. The main purpose of the common-mode feedback network is to ensure that

$$I_{d,M6} = \frac{I_{d,M_{CS}}}{2}.$$
(4.14)

To achieve this, common-mode feedback networks perform two tasks; sense the common-mode output of the amplifier, and adjust a parameter of the amplifier to set the output common-mode.



Figure 4.5: Circuit schematic of the common-mode feedback network.

The schematic of the circuit used to implement the common-mode feedback network is provided in Fig. 4.5. The topology of the network was chosen because it accurately represents the current sources in the main amplifier, and it provides minimal loading on the output of the amplifier. The  $M_7$  devices are sized and biased exactly the same as the  $M_6$  devices of the OTA to accurately represent the current source loads of the OTA. The  $M_8$  devices are also sized and biased exactly the same as the  $M_5$  devices of the OTA so that the  $M_7$  current source devices have a  $V_{DS}$  approximately the same as the  $V_{DS}$  of the M<sub>6</sub> current source devices. The M<sub>9</sub> devices create a differential pair to compare the output of the OTA to the specified common-mode voltage  $V_{cm,ref}$ . The M<sub>10</sub> devices, similar to the  $M_8$  devices, are sized and biased exactly the same as the input so that the  $M_{11}$ current source device has a  $V_{DS}$  approximately the same as the  $V_{DS}$  of the  $M_{CS}$  current source device of the OTA. So as not to consume excess current in the common-mode feedback circuit, the current source device is biased with  $I_{SS}/2$  but is sized so that  $V^*$  is the same as  $M_{CS}$ . The  $V_{GS}$ of the  $M_{11}$  device,  $V_{cm,control}$ , is fed back to the OTA to set the output common-mode. The only drawback to the use of this topology for the common-mode feedback network in our system is that for the network to work properly the  $M_9$  devices must always be on, which limits the swing on the OTA output. The highest the output voltage of the OTA can go without turning off a device in the common-mode feedback network is given by

$$V_{out,max} = V_{DD} - V_{M7}^* - V_{M8}^* - V_{TH,M9} - V_{M9}^*.$$
(4.15)

<b>CMFB Network Design Parameters</b>	
M <sub>7</sub>	37µ/500n
M <sub>8</sub>	214µ/1µ
M <sub>9</sub>	20µ/280n
M <sub>10</sub>	5.7µ/130n
M <sub>11</sub>	36.5µ/400n
M <sub>12</sub>	18.25µ/400n

Table 4.3: Physical design parameters for the common-mode feedback network.



Figure 4.6: Complete circuit schematic of the OTA with common-mode feedback network included.

With the  $V^*$  and  $V_{TH}$  of the M<sub>9</sub> devices set to 280 mV and 260 mV, respectively, the maximum output voltage of the OTA is approximately 1.96 V. With the output common-mode set to 1.66 V, approximately half of the supply voltage, the new maximum differential swing at the output is  $\pm$ 300 mV. Since the capacitive gain of the DSM is 1, the new maximum input swing of the DSM is also  $\pm$  300 mV. For this reason,  $V_{FS}$  is set to 600 mV, and as a result  $V_{ref}$  and  $V_{in,amp,max}$  are both 300 mV. The complete schematic of the OTA with both the core amplifier and the commonmode feedback network connected is provided in Fig. 4.6. For more details explaining this type of common-mode feedback network and other common-mode feedback network options, refer to [24]. The final sizes of the devices in the common-mode feedback network are provided in table 4.3.

### 4.4 Comparator

The final significant block that is needed to implement a DSM is the comparator. As mentioned before, the constraints on the comparator concerning noise and input offset, typically the most important two constraints for comparators, are relaxed because the high DC gain of the integrator that suppresses these errors when referred to the input. For the DSM designed here, the comparator consists of a preamplifier followed by a regenerative latch.

#### 4.4.1 Preamplifier

The preamplifier is necessary for the DSM designed here for two reasons; (1) it provides suppression of the kickback effect from the latch, and (2) to overcome the latch offset when the signal is extremely small. Reducing the kickback effect is important so that the clock strobe to the inputs of the latch do not disturb the value stored on the integrating capacitors. Fig. 4.7 provides the circuit schematic for the preamplifer. The bipolar devices were used to achieve high gain at a faster speed. The input NMOS devices are necessary because the bipolar devices cannot be used as input devices since the value stored on the integrating capacitors after the integration is complete can potentially leak away through the base resistance of the bipolar devices. Therefore, the NMOS devices are



Figure 4.7: Circuit schematic of the comparator preamplfier.

Preamplifier Design Parameters	
M <sub>in</sub>	36µ/280n
M <sub>bias</sub>	52µ/280n
Q <sub>amp</sub>	3μ
Q <sub>follower</sub>	2μ

Table 4.4: Physical design parameters for the preamplifer circuit.



Figure 4.8: Circuit schematic of the comparator regenerative latch.

simply buffers. The third stage is simply a level shifter using diodes to shift the output of the preamplifier operating off of a 2.5 V supply to the input range of the digital latch that operates off of the lower digital voltage supply, 1.2 V. The final sizes of the devices in the preamplifier are provided in table 4.4.

#### 4.4.2 Regenerative Latch

With the design of the latch, the main priority is speed since the error contributions are not significant due to the high DC gain of the integrator, as mentioned. The circuit schematic of the regenerative latch is provided in Fig. 4.8. The architecture is very similar to the standard Strong Arm latch, often referred to as a Yukawa latch. During the off phase the PMOS devices and the NMOS devices are isolated, the output is charged to  $V_{DD}$ , and the NMOS drains are connected



Figure 4.9: Simplified schematic of the regenerative latch during the on phase.

Latch Design Parameters		
M <sub>in</sub>	15µ/130n	
$M_{precharge}$	2µ/130n	
M <sub>reset</sub>	1µ/130n	
M <sub>evaluate</sub>	2µ/130n	
M <sub>crossn</sub>	8µ/130n	
M <sub>crossp</sub>	8µ/130n	

Table 4.5: Physical design parameters for the regenerative latch circuit.

together to eliminate hysteresis. During the on phase, the NMOS and PMOS cross-coupled pairs are connected to each other. The simplified schematic of the regenerative latch during the on phase is provided in Fig. 4.9. Initially, both outputs start at  $V_{DD}$ . As time passes, both of the input NMOS devices discharge the outputs with the NMOS having a higher  $V_{GS}$  discharging the output at a faster rate. The cross-coupled pairs reinforce the discharging, and eventually the output being discharged at a faster rate is sufficient to switch the state of the other output, thus locking the outputs to their desired values. The most important issue that must be closely monitored is the sizing of the input devices. They should be large enough to be able to discharge the outputs, and cause the switching threshold to be reached, but they must be small enough not to discharge the output if the output is being charged to  $V_{DD}$  via the PMOS devices. The final sizes of the devices used in the regenerative latch are provided in table 4.5.

## 4.5 Results

To achieve sufficient image resolution, the delta-sigma modulator must provide 10 bits of resolution of DC signal, which corresponds to 62 dB. For circuit design purposes, to provide margin and account for fabrication variability the specified signal bandwidth was set to 20 kHz, which is essentially DC when sampled at a frequency of 750 MHz.

The circuit was implemented in a commercial BiCMOS 130 nm process. Complete pre-silicon simulations of DSM circuits are typically not performed because they require simulations of extremely long data traces due to the oversampled nature of the system [1,18,19]. However, for this report, 4 simulations were completed. The results are included in Fig. 4.10, which overlays the results with the modeled results presented in the previous chapter.



Figure 4.10: Results from the circuit overlaid on model results.

The pre-fabrication circuit results of the DSM are summarized in table 4.6. A breakdown of the power consumption is provided in table 4.7. As can be seen from table 4.7, approximately 72% of the total power consumed by the DSM is consumed by the comparator. Therefore, significant power reduction can be achieved simply by optimizing the comparator for low power. This can most likely be done with minimal impact on the overall performance of the DSM because as has been mentioned before, the performance of the comparator is not a stringent constraint that impacts the overall performance of the DSM since the comparator's error is highly suppressed by the high DC gain of the integrator when referred back to the input.

DSM Circuit Results		
SNDR	79 dB	
Input Signal Bandwidth	20 kHz	
Sampling Frequency	750 MHz	
Oversampling Ratio	18,750	
Power Consumption	27.4 mW	
Technology	130 nm BiCMOS	
Die Area	205 x 132 μm <sup>2</sup>	

Table 4.6: Results for the delta-sigma modulator circuit.

Power Consumption Breakdown		
Integrator	6.02 mW	
Comparator	19.8 mW	
Sampling Network	0.971 μW	
Non-overlapping Clock Generator	1.16 mW	
Clock drivers	0.397 mW	

Table 4.7: Power consumption breakdown for the delta-sigma modulator circuit.

## Chapter 5

## Conclusion

### 5.1 Summary

This work introduced a high-speed delta-sigma modulator for mm-Wave applications, and developed a model to predict the performance of the DSM and guide the circuit design. To illustrate the complete process a signal goes through when modulated by a delta-sigma modulator, an example using the model presented here was provided in the Appendix. The circuit design was heavily guided by use of the model, which led to an iterative process since the model depended on parameters that could only be determined after the circuit was designed. The target application of the DSM is the TUSI system, a wireless mm-Wave imaging system. Based on the requirements of the system, the model was optimized to identify the parameters necessary to physically implement the DSM. As proof of concept, the modeled DSM was implemented in a 130 nm BiCMOS process, and is currently in the fabrication phase. The physical DSM consumes 27.4 mW of power; 72% of which is consumed by the comparator.

## 5.2 Future Work

Although this work completely models the specified architecture, it does not aid in the actual choice of the architecture. It is more useful once the topology has been selected, but nonetheless models non-idealities that must be considered regardless of the architecture chosen for the DSM. To make the model more general, the model can be expanded to model the performance of multi-bit DSMs as well as higher-order DSMs. By doing so, the model can be utilized earlier in the project phase by predicting the performance of a larger number of architectures as well as identifying the design parameters needed to physically implement the chosen DSM architecture based on optimization. In addition to generalizing the model, the DSM implemented here will be measured once the chip returns, and a detailed comparison of the measurement results with the model and circuit results will be published separately.

## References

- R. Schreier and G. Temes, Understanding Delta-Sigma Data Converters. New York: Wiley-IEEE Press, 2004.
- [2] B. E. Boser and B. A. Wooley, "The design of sigma-delta modulation analog-to-digital converters," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 23, pp. 1298-1308, Dec. 1988.
- [3] W. R. Bennett, "Spectra of quantized signals," *Bell Syst. Tech. J.*, vol. 27, pp. 446-472, July 1988.
- [4] J. F. Jensen, G. Raghavan, A. E. Cosand, R. H. Walden, "A 3.2 GHz second-order delta-sigma modulator implemented in InP HBT technology," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 30, pp. 1119-1127, 1995.
- [5] L. Yao, Michael S. J. Steyaert, W. Sansen, "A 1-V 140-μW 88-dB audio sigma-delta modulator in 90-nm CMOS," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 1809-1818, Nov. 2004.
- [6] J. Roh, S. Byun, Y. Choi, H. Roh, Y. Kim, J. Kwon, "A 0.9-V 60-μW 1-Bit fourth-order delta-sigma modulator with 83-dB dynamic range," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 361-370, Feb. 2008.
- [7] Y. Dong, M. Kraft, C. O. Gollasch, "A high performance accelerometer with fifth-order ΣΔ modulator," in *Proc. Micromechanics Europe Workshop*, Leuven, Belgium, Sep. 2004, pp. 41-44.

- [8] J. A. E. P. van Engelen et al, "A sixth-order continuous-time bandpass sigmadelta modulator for digital radio IF," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 13, no. 12, pp. 1753-1764, Dec. 1999.
- [9] Y. Fujimoto, P. L. Re, M. Miyamoto, "A delta-sigma modulator for a 1-bit digital switching amplifier," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 1865-1871, Sept. 2005.
- [10] L. Louis, J. Abcarius, G. W. Roberts, "An eighth-order bandpass ΔΣ modulator for A/D conversion in digital radio," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 423-431, April 1999.
- [11] J. Silva, U. Moon, J. Steensgaard, G. C. Temes, "Wideband low-distortion delta-sigma ADC topology," *Electronic Letters*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 737-738, June 2001.
- [12] A. R. Feldman, B. E. Boser, P. R. Gray, "A 13-bit, 1.4-MS/s sigma-delta modulator for RF baseband channel applications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 33, no. 10, pp. 1462-1469, Oct. 1998.
- [13] Maxim Integrated Circuits, Demystifying Delta-Sigma ADCs. Jan., 2003.
- [14] T. A. D. Riley, M. A. Copeland, T. A. Kwasniewski, "Delta-sigma modulation in fractional-N frequency synthesis," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 553-559, May 1993.
- [15] Analog Devices, Sigma-Delta ADCs and DACs.
- [16] H. Zare-Hoseini, I. Kale, O. Shoaei, "Modeling of switched-capacitor delta-sigma modulators in SIMULINK," *Instrumentation and Measurement, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 1646-1654, Aug. 2005.
- [17] B. H. Leung and S. Sutarja, "Multibit Σ-Δ A/D converter incorporating a novel class of dynamic element matching techniques," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II*, vol. 39, pp. 35-51, Jan. 1992.
- [18] H. Khorramabadi, "EE247 Lectures," University of California, Berkeley, Fall, 2009.

- [19] S. R. Northworthy, R. Schreier, G. C. Temes, *Delta-Sigma Data Converters*. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE Press, 1997.
- [20] G. C. Temes, "Finite amplifier gain and bandwidth effects in switched-capacitor filters," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. SC-15, pp. 358-361, June 1980.
- [21] Y. Geerts, A. Marques, M. Steyaert, W. Sansen, "A 3.3-V, 15-bit, delta-sigma ADC with a signal bandwidth of 1.1 MHz for ADSL applications," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 927-936, July 1999.
- [22] S. Brigati, F. Francesconi, P. Malcovati, D. Tonietto, A. Baschirotto, F. Maloberti, "Modeling sigma-delta modulator non-idealities in Simulink<sup>®</sup>," *Circuits and Systems, 1999. ISCAS '99. Proceedings of the 1999 IEEE International Symposium on*, vol. 2, no., pp. 384-387 vol. 2, July 1999.
- [23] F. Medeiro, B. Perez-Verdu, A. Rodriguez-Vazquez, J. L. Huertas, "Modeling opamp-induced harmonic distortion for switched-capacitor ΣΔ modulator design," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits and Systems (ISCAS '94,)* vol. 5, pp. 445-448, May 1994.
- [24] P. R. Gray, P. J. Hurst, S. H. Lewis, R. G. Meyer, Analysis and design of analog integrated circuits. Wiley Press, 2009.
- [25] E. Alon, "EE240 Lectures," University of California, Berkeley, Spring, 2010.
- [26] B. Razavi, Design of Analog CMOS Integrated Circuits. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, 2001.
- [27] B. P. Brandt, et. al, "Second-order sigma-delta modulation for digital-audio signal acquisition," *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 26, pp. 618-627, April 1991.

## Appendix A

# Example Simulations of a Test Signal

The DSM operation that utilizes the model to shape the noise and provide a high-resolution result is detailed next. The parameters used to perform the simulations are provided in table A.1.

Simulation Parameters	
Input Sinusoidal Frequency	15 kHz
Sampling Speed	750 MHz
Oversampling Rate	3,750
$C_{S}$ and $C_{I}$	400 fF
R <sub>sw</sub>	200 Ω
OTA V <sup>*</sup> <sub>in</sub>	300 mV
OTA V <sub>load</sub>	500 mV
OTA input g <sub>m</sub>	3 mS
OTA A <sub>VO</sub>	6000

Table A.1: Simulation parameters for the appendix example.

Fig. A.1 shows the output PSD of the DSM. The noise shaping property that shifts the majority of the noise out-of-band is visible in the figure. From analysis of the PSD, the SNR is calculated to be 76 dB.



Figure A.1: Output PSD of the delta-sigma modulator.

After decimation is performed by the back-end processing, which filters out the out-of-band noise and down samples the DSM output, the signal can be reconstructed. Fig. A.2 provides the original time-domain signal as well as the reconstructed signal processed by the DSM. As can be seen from the figure, although the noise was shaped by the DSM noise transfer function, the integrity of the signal has not been distorted and the signal can be properly reconstructed with both amplitude and frequency correct.



Figure A.2: Time-domain original signal and reconstructed signal after modulation by the DSM.